
From: Janis Offermann
To: "Laverne Bill"
Cc: "Victoria Delgado"; "Rebekah Canavesio"; "Gayle Totton"
Subject: RE: Sites Reservoir meeting
Date: Thursday, July 29, 2021 7:58:00 AM
Attachments: Sites_Mitigation Measures.docx

Good morning, Laverne
We are looking forward to meeting with you this afternoon.  In preparation for our discussion,
attached are the proposed mitigation measures for the Cultural Resources and Tribal Cultural
Resources chapters of the Sites Project EIR for your review.  I apologize providing these on such
short notice, but hopefully you will have a chance to take a quick review.  We understand that you
will need more time to fully review and comment on them.  However, we are also hoping to get a
better idea about how Yocha Dehe would like to handle protecting and treating sites, beyond the
mitigation measures.
 
I also talked with Anecita, at DWR, about the status of providing the site records and I have some
positive news to report.
 
See you at 1pm.
Janis
 
 
Janis Offermann
Cultural Resources Practice Leader
Horizon Water and Environment
400 Capitol Mall, Suite 2500
Sacramento, CA 95814
916.465.8076 – office
530.220.4918 – mobile
 
 
 
 
 

From: Janis Offermann <janis@horizonh2o.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, June 29, 2021 9:28 PM
To: Laverne Bill <LBill@yochadehe-nsn.gov>
Cc: Victoria Delgado <VDelgado@yochadehe-nsn.gov>; Rebekah Canavesio
<RCanavesio@yochadehe-nsn.gov>; Gayle Totton <GTotton@yochadehe-nsn.gov>
Subject: Re: Sites Reservoir meeting
 
Hi, Laverne
Do you want to suggest some dates available to you?
Also, I heard from Anecita and she is meeting with legal this week to discuss the site records.
Thanks, janis

mailto:janis@horizonh2o.com
mailto:LBill@yochadehe-nsn.gov
mailto:VDelgado@yochadehe-nsn.gov
mailto:RCanavesio@yochadehe-nsn.gov
mailto:GTotton@yochadehe-nsn.gov

Sites Reservoir Project RDEIR/SDEIS Cultural Resources and Tribal Cultural Resources Mitigation Measures

July 2021



CULTURAL RESOURCES CHAPTER MITIGATION MEASURES

Mitigation Measure CUL-2.1: Identify Significant Archaeological Resources

The Authority will identify significant archaeological resources in the study area. The work will be conducted by a Registered Professional Archaeologist. The following will occur as part of the identification. 

Relocate and map previously recorded potentially significant archaeological resources. Upon access to previously inaccessible areas, all previously recorded archaeological resources will be located and their boundaries mapped with sub-meter accuracy Global Positioning System (GPS) units to identify their exact location in relation to Project components that have the potential to affect the resources.

Locate and map potentially significant archaeological resources in areas that have not been accessible previously. Upon access to previously inaccessible areas, pedestrian surveys will be conducted to identify potentially significant archaeological resources. The surveys will be conducted using transects spaced no greater than 94 feet (30 meters) apart. All newly identified archaeological resources will be recorded on applicable DPR 523-series forms and resource boundaries, features, and diagnostic artifacts outside of features or concentrations will be recorded using sub-meter accuracy GPS units to identify their exact location in relation to Project components that have the potential to impact the resources. 

Evaluate the NRHP/CRHR eligibility of recorded archaeological resources. Once all previously and newly recorded potentially significant archaeological resources have been documented, each resource will be evaluated for NRHP and CRHR eligibility. As discussed in Appendix 4A, Regulatory Requirements, cultural resources are eligible for the NRHP and CRHR if they have integrity and meet one or more of the four criteria as defined in the regulations for the NRHP (Section 4A.18.1.3) and CRHR (Section 4A.18.2.2). Eligibility will be assessed using a combination of (but not limited to) archival, ethnographic, and tribal research, resource condition assessment, subsurface testing, and laboratory analysis. If the resource is evaluated as not eligible, no further action is required and avoidance is preferred. 

Assess impacts to significant archaeological resources. Significant archaeological resources (archaeological resources evaluated as eligible for the NRHP or CRHR) will be individually analyzed in relation to the Project components within or near those significant resources. Thresholds of significance identified in Section 22.3.1 will be applied. 

Mitigation Measure CUL-2.2: Avoid Significant Archaeological Resources

The Authority will avoid significant archaeological resources in the study area by performing the tasks listed below. The work will be conducted by a Registered Professional Archaeologist.

The Authority will develop feasible Project design specifications to avoid significant archaeological resources. If Project design allows modification, design changes will be implemented to avoid significant archaeological resources or avoid impacts on significant values of the resources (features, artifacts, or any other elements of the resource which make the resource significant). 

The Authority will develop and implement feasible Project construction protocols to avoid significant archaeological resources, including workers’ cultural resources sensitivity training. Prior to construction activities in the vicinity of significant archaeological resources, the Authority will require a qualified archaeologist to provide a cultural resources sensitivity training tailboard to all construction personnel working in the vicinity of the resources. The training will identify the sensitivity, nature, and components of the resource, and inform the construction personnel the protocol needed to take in the case of an unanticipated discovery. 

The Authority will develop and implement feasible Project operations protocols that avoid significant archaeological resources. Similar to the workers’ cultural resources sensitivity training for during construction activities, all personnel in charge of managing the operations will be required to have cultural resources sensitive training for the resources near Project facilities and have a familiarity of the resource locations and identifications so that future operations or changes in operations can avoid those resources.

Mitigation Measure CUL-2.3: Protect Significant Archaeological Resources

The Authority will develop feasible Project protection of significant archaeological resources during construction and operations. 

The Authority will develop protections protocols to ensure that qualified staff perform monitoring during Project-related ground disturbance to protect known resources, to identify any unanticipated discoveries, and to implement the Post-Review Discovery Procedure.

The Authority will develop resource-specific protection plans considering at a minimum Environmentally Sensitive Area delineation and physical fencing, and requiring archaeological monitoring where construction or operation would be in the vicinity of a known significant archaeological resource. The resource-specific protection plans will establish the methods and standards for when and how Environmentally Sensitive Area delineations will be required and when archaeological monitoring activities will be conducted for specific types of sites that will need to be protected. The plans will also identify the roles and responsibilities of monitors and construction crews and specify communication protocols and reporting requirements. 

Mitigation Measure CUL-2.4: Significant Archaeological Resources Treatment

The Authority will develop and implement resource-specific treatment plans in consultation with interested parties who are associated with or identify with the resource. The resource-specific archaeological treatment plans will ensure that all significant archaeological resources potentially affected by the Project will be treated according to best practices and professional standards, and that treatment options will include a range of interventions from avoidance and minimization of impacts to mitigation for the loss of the physical resource. Treatment may include, but would not be limited to, data recovery, site capping, analysis of existing artifact collections, or interpretive displays, among other things. Appropriate treatment will be determined based on resource type, resource location, types of impacts to the resource, and results of consultation with tribes, interested parties, and agencies. 

Mitigation Measure CUL-3.1: Cemetery Relocation Plan

[bookmark: _Hlk76706910][bookmark: _Hlk76706882]The Authority will develop a Cemetery Relocation Plan for relocating two known, dedicated cemeteries located in the inundation area. This will be part of Reclamation’s Programmatic Historic Properties Management Plan that would be prepared in consultation with SHPO. 

Avoidance of the disturbance and/or inundation of two known cemeteries is not expected to be feasible except under the No Project Alternative. The Cemetery Relocation Plan will ensure that all burials in these two cemeteries are treated with respect and in accordance with the wishes of identifiable descendants. The Cemetery Relocation Plan will also ensure that state and county health and safety codes are followed for those interments that are relocated. 

Two dedicated cemeteries in the inundation area will be relocated to a site or sites approved for interment of human remains per requirements of the California Health and Safety Code (Sections 7500–7527). This procedure will be developed through consultation and coordination with descendants and other parties with demonstrated interest in the occupants of the cemeteries. The procedure will outline legal requirements, such as acquiring a written order from the local health department or county superior court before human remains may be moved, and other rules and regulations adopted by the board of health or health officer of the county. 

Mitigation Measure CUL-3.2: Avoid, Protect, and Treat Human Burials

The Authority will avoid and protect any human remains encountered during pre-construction, construction, post-construction, operations, and maintenance. The Authority will appropriate state guidelines for halting Project activities at the discovery location, contacting the appropriate county coroner to report the discovery, and proceeding with implementation of Project policies regarding Native American consultation or implementation of a burial treatment plan. See Appendix 4A, 4A.18.1 Federal Policies and Regulations and 4A.18.2 State Policies and Regulations. 

The Authority and its qualified contractors will prepare a plan for treating human remains and/or grave goods encountered during archaeological investigations, Project construction, or Project operations. The Burial Treatment Plan will identify ways to avoid or reduce the likelihood of encountering as yet unidentified burials.

The Burial Treatment Plan will ensure that the Authority and its contractors respond to unanticipated discovery of human burials with respect and in accordance with the wishes of identifiable descendants. The Burial Treatment Plan will also ensure that state and county health and safety codes are followed for those interments that are relocated. 

This procedure will identify legal requirements and best practices for treating Native American and non-Native historic burials encountered outside of a dedicated cemetery. The Native American portion of the Burial Treatment Plan will be developed in consultation with consulting tribes and may include individual tribes’ burial treatment plans.

The Authority and its qualified contractors will complete preparation of the Burial Treatment Plan within 6 months of issuance of the NOD/ROD, adopt the plan prior to selection of the construction contractor, and fully implement the plan prior to any soil disturbance within 500 feet of burials.



[bookmark: _Hlk78435075]TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES CHAPTER MITIGATION MEASURES

Mitigation Measure TCR-1.1: Implement Mitigation Measures Recommended in Public Resources Code Section 21084.3 to Avoid Damaging Effects on Tribal Cultural Resources, When Possible

(1) 	Avoidance and preservation of the resources in place, including, but not limited to, planning and construction to avoid the resources and protect the cultural and natural context, or planning greenspace, parks, or other open space, to incorporate the resources with culturally appropriate protection and management criteria.

(2) 	Treating the resource with culturally appropriate dignity, taking into account the tribal cultural values and meaning of the resource, including, but not limited to, the following:

(A)	Protecting the cultural character and integrity of the resource.

(B)	Protecting the traditional use of the resource.

(C)	Protecting the conﬁdentiality of the resource.

(3) 	Permanent conservation easements or other interests in real property, with culturally appropriate management criteria for the purposes of preserving or utilizing the resources or places.

Mitigation Measure TCR-1.2: Tribal Monitoring

Tribal monitors will be permitted to observe all ground-disturbing activities. 

Mitigation Measure TCR-1.3: Implement Agreed-upon Protocol for the Treatment of Human Remains and Cultural Items

If human remains or associated grave goods are discovered during or after environmental review, the Authority will provide for the following actions:

Immediately notify the County coroner and cease ground-disturbing activities in that location.

The County coroner will notify the NAHC to establish the most likely descendant and contact the culturally affiliated Tribe.

Allow the designated Tribal member(s) to inspect the site of the discovery and determine how the human remains and grave goods should be treated with appropriate dignity and respect.

The location of a reburial will be recorded with the California Historic Resources Inventory System. 

The Authority, its contractors and consultants, and the coroner will not disclose the location of the original burial or reburial site.

Treatment of all cultural items, including ceremonial items and archeological items will reflect the religious beliefs, customs, and practices of the culturally affiliated Tribe. All cultural items, including ceremonial items and archeological items, discovered during Project construction and operation will be turned over to the Tribe for appropriate treatment, unless otherwise ordered by a court or agency of competent jurisdiction. The Authority will waive any and all claims to ownership of Tribal ceremonial and cultural items that may be found.

Work of Tribal monitors and treatment of human remains will proceed in accordance with treatment plans developed in consultation with the most likely descendant of the culturally affiliated Tribe as identified by the NAHC. 

[bookmark: _Hlk75941471][bookmark: _Toc44945987]The following mitigation measures specified in Chapter 22 would also be implemented and would apply to tribal cultural resources.

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

Mitigation Measure CUL-3.1: Cemetery Relocation Procedure

Mitigation Measure CUL-3.2: Avoid, Protect, and Treat Human Burials





If non-burial or other significant sites or cultural items are discovered, the Authority will work with the consulting Tribes to determine affiliation and develop appropriate treatment. 

If unanticipated discoveries of culturally significant resources occur on federal land, the federal land manager will be immediately contacted and the federal agency will follow its own process for complying with the federal Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act and other federal obligations, as directed under Title 43 of Code of Federal Regulations, Part 10.
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On Tue, Jun 29, 2021, 5:02 PM Laverne Bill <LBill@yochadehe-nsn.gov> wrote:

Good afternoon, Janis.  That would be great to have a meeting to address the issues of Cultural
Resources and how to protect them.  Let schedule some time to have meeting about this topic. 
 
Laverne Bill
Director of Cultural Resources
 
Yocha Dehe Wintun Nation
PO Box 18 | Brooks, CA  95606
p 530.796.3400 | c 530.723.3891
f 530.796.2143
lbill@yochadehe-nsn.gov
www.yochadehe.org
 
 

From: Janis Offermann <janis@horizonh2o.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, June 23, 2021 8:45 AM
To: Laverne Bill <LBill@yochadehe-nsn.gov>
Subject: Sites Reservoir meeting
 
[Warning External Sender]

Hi, Laverne
We were able to talk with Anecita shortly after you and I last talked and she is taking up the issue
about the site records with DWR legal.?? Under AB 52, DWR is obligated to share such
information with you, but she wants to go through legal first so that there are no negative
repercussions for anyone.
??
In the meantime, the Authority would like to schedule a meeting to talk about potential ways to
address impacts to significant sites?? (like using the GPR to identify burials, etc), and perhaps
other ways to develop enhancements that would be important to Yocha Dehe and other tribes
such as Colusa.?? We had previously discussed tribal involvement in developing trails, and I am
wondering if you would also be interested in developing locations for plants used for basketry or
medicinal purposes.??
??
In any case, we would like to continue the conversation while the site records issue gets sorted
out.?? If that is OK with you, perhaps you can ask Victoria to find some dates in July; or I can reach
out to her, if you???d like.
Thanks
janis
??
Janis Offermann
Cultural Resources Practice Leader
Horizon Water and Environment
400 Capitol Mall, Suite 2500
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mailto:lbill@yochadehe-nsn.gov
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Sacramento, CA 95814
916.465.8076 ??? office
530.220.4918 ??? mobile
??


